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On a warm April afternoon in 1873, the financier Jay Gould took time off from counting his money to have lunch at Delmonico’s, the fanciest restaurant in town. While he was eating, a lawyer walked over to his table, cocked his fist, and punched him in the face.

A series of spectacular financial triumphs—some said swindles—had made Gould fabulously rich. Now, at age thirty-six, he was the most notorious businessperson in the country. Like others who tried to claw back money from Gould, the lawyer was getting nowhere in court. The laws were too weak, enforcement too lax, and the judges too crooked. Gould had them in his pocket.

Oysters and Veuve Cliquot were the rule at Delmonico’s. The biftek was served au naturel. For most people, a meal cost a week’s wages. For the rich, it was a place to enjoy their wealth, not pick fights. Joseph Marrin, the lawyer, didn’t care. Frustrated to the point of rage, he took justice into his own hands and clocked Gould in front of the lunch crowd. In a piece called “Gould’s Nose,” The New York Times declared Marrin a hero and worried about a pileup if others followed his lead. “The flattening of Gould’s nose,” it wrote, “would be an incidence of hourly occurrence.”1

This book seeks to explain Jay Gould and his underappreciated—and aggressively maligned—role in the country’s transformative economic expansion of the nineteenth century. But it is just as much an exploration of Wall Street during its Wild West era after the Civil War when, by the rough means on display at Delmonico’s, the seeds of our current financial system were planted. Stock and bond markets were hitting their stride. Only the strictures of conscience, rather than law and regulation, governed the participants. That left the unscrupulous free to self-deal, fix prices, trade on inside information, lie to investors, and manipulate stock prices. Out west, Jesse James and other train robbers stole your wallet. In New York, men in top hats, abetted by corrupt politicians, snatched your life savings.

The state of play was tolerated. It was an objectionable by-product of progress. Sure, there were cunning moneymen who abused the system. But that was a side effect, the price of opportunity. After all, it was Wall Street that raised the money to build railroads, to settle the plains, to create jobs, and to elevate living standards. The bankers and investors at the corner of Wall and Broad had their faults, but they were making America the most powerful nation on earth and its people the most prosperous.

A few people, the men the writer Matthew Josephson condemned as Robber Barons, amassed spectacular wealth. Cornelius Vanderbilt, John D. Rockefeller, and Andrew Carnegie come to mind. But they aren’t the focus of this book because they made their money in industry, not in finance. Vanderbilt toiled in steamships and railroads, Rockefeller in oil, and Carnegie in steel. Only the lesser-known figure of Jay Gould, as rich as any of them and another of Josephson’s “scoundrels,” was foremost a creature of Wall Street.

To the extent Gould is remembered, it is for Black Friday, the day he blew up the gold market and paralyzed the financial system. For this and other bold and sometimes undeniably felonious acts, lawyers swamped him with suits, prosecutors hit him with subpoenas, and Congress hauled him in for hearings. This was as far as things got. Arrested three times, Gould never spent a day in jail. In a better world, he would have. But these were raw times. Frustrated opponents, like the lawyer at Delmonico’s, turned to vigilante justice. One victim tossed Gould down a stairwell. Another pulled a gun on him. During the contested presidential election of 1884—an election in which Gould was believed to have interfered—a lynch mob marched on his Broadway office. As they waited in hope of spotting their prey, they riffed on the “Battle Hymn of the Republic.” Out went “Glory, Glory Hallelujah.” In came “Hang Jay Gould on the sour apple tree.” For them there was no doubt. Gould deserved the noose. “Jay Gould was the mightiest disaster which has ever befallen this country,” wrote Mark Twain. “The people had desired money before his day, but he taught them to fall down and worship it.”2

For Twain, Gould was the biggest robber of the barons. It was one thing to clean up at the poker table when you played by the rules. It was another to cheat. Gould, he argued, was a champion cheater. Even worse, he was an inspiration for others inclined to cheat. He showed that no act of financial villainy was too bold. The publisher Joseph Pulitzer saw Gould the same way as Twain. “Convicts will wonder,” wrote Pulitzer, “what mental defect robbed them of such a career as Gould’s.”3

Gould’s peers were more charitable. Gould stood not much over five feet tall. But to those who appreciated his gifts, the Little Wizard, as the newspapers called him, was a giant. Vanderbilt told a Syracuse newspaper that Gould was “the smartest man in America.”4 Rockefeller, when asked who he thought had the best head for business, answered “Jay Gould” without pausing to think.5 They recognized Gould as a master of his craft. Ruthless? Yes. A liar? Maybe. It depended on the definition. But no one disputed that he was an extraordinary problem solver, an unparalleled negotiator, an expert communicator, a lightning-fast thinker, and a masterful tactician with a staggering memory. He knew the numbers better than his accountants. He knew the law as well his lawyers. When it came to business, Gould had it all.

Gould complemented his natural endowments with nerves of iron and a work ethic, even as a teenager, so strong that it damaged his health and, quite possibly, shortened his life. With his mix of brains and single-mindedness, he was suited to make the most of the moment. Gould’s friends thought he got attention for the wrong reasons. They cited his talents and wondered why he never seemed to win praise. “Why is Rockefeller held in so much higher esteem than Gould in the public mind?” asked the banker Jesse Seligman.6

Gould, of course, didn’t see himself as a crook. He bribed politicians because his competitors bribed politicians. Equally, he made his money not at gunpoint but by manipulating others to make bad decisions. They would pay him too much when he was selling or accept too little when he was buying. Gould would say his victims—those on the other side of his trades—had only themselves to blame. If someone was too lazy to read the fine print, too greedy to consider the downside, and too dumb to watch what Gould did rather than what he said, they deserved their fate. Gould feasted on other Wall Street professionals. They were trying to do to him what he did to them. Did that make him a crook?



GOULD WAS ONE of the most famous people of his time. During an 1886 labor dispute, his name appeared on the front page of The New York Times every day for a month. Such was Gould’s reputation that the public assumed, wrongly, that he could single-handedly move the market. Such was Gould’s notoriety that once, after a train robber picked clean every passenger on a Texas train, the crook told the onboard postal clerk that he would leave him alone, saying he wasn’t after the government’s money, “only Jay Gould’s.” 7

These days, Gould is all but forgotten. In 2019, USA Today published a ranking of rich Americans. Gould was there, smack between Marshall Field and Warren Buffett at No. 14. “Jay Gould 1836–1892.”8 The paper got that right. But it muffed the picture. It didn’t show Gould. It showed his grandson, Jay Gould II. Jay Gould II was prominent, too. He won a gold medal in tennis at the 1908 London Olympics. But he wasn’t the shadowy buccaneer who ransacked Wall Street.

Gould would have enjoyed the error. Obsessively secret, he talked to the press for strategic reasons, but never sat for a magazine profile nor gave thought to an autobiography. Like a camper determined to leave no trace behind, he ordered his papers burned upon his death and that his name appear nowhere on his burial site. Still, it is tantalizing to think how the Gould name would resonate if he had lived longer. Gould died when he was fifty-six and before he could decide how his money might build enduring institutions in his name. Rockefeller was sixty-two when he endowed Rockefeller University. He lived long enough to see his son build Rockefeller Center. Vanderbilt was seventy-nine when he financed Vanderbilt University. Gould gave some money to New York University and was negotiating a bigger gift and possible naming rights when he died. If the academic establishment sprawled over lower Manhattan was called Gould University instead of NYU, we’d see the name Gould on baseball caps and bumper stickers. Instead, about all he gets is the Florence Gould auditorium, a small concert venue in a 59th Street basement named for his daughter-in-law. It pales besides Carnegie Hall.

Why does Gould matter? There is an easy answer. While he made his money on Wall Street, he did as much as anyone, through his work with railroads, to build the country. Railroads changed America in the nineteenth century much as automobiles changed the country in the twentieth century and the internet has changed the twenty-first century. Gould built as much track as anyone, laying down the “thin lines of rust” that crossed the country’s interior and let Americans tap the economic potential of the country and make it the richest nation on earth. Gould’s contributions elevated St. Louis, Kansas City, Dallas, Denver, Omaha, and Memphis, not to mention the countless smaller settlements he literally put on the map. He was among the biggest employers, if not the biggest employer, in the country. The money he spent to stay competitive made the nation’s rail network faster, safer, and more comfortable. He reinvested his profits in a way that created more jobs and economic growth. America would have developed without Gould, only not as fast or efficiently.

Gould also changed the way we think about markets. America was founded on the idea that the best government was the one that governed least. Europeans crossed the Atlantic for freedom, to get away from kings, secret police, and censors. The freedom America offered to get rich went hand in hand with freedom to worship one’s own god and the freedom to march against the government. In business, laissez-faire was best. When it came to consumer protection, caveat emptor—buyer beware—sufficed. The invisible hand, the unseen power that governed the economy, was a benign force of good.

For decades, the approach worked miracles. It fostered rapid economic growth and, remarkably, a relatively even division of wealth. There were few rich people and few beggars at the time of the American Revolution. Benjamin Franklin saw wealth disparity up close as ambassador to France. He delighted in the social and economic equality back home. America wasn’t a place of rich and poor, he wrote. “It is, rather, a general happy mediocrity that prevails.”9

Faith in markets remained strong at the time of the Civil War when Gould started his Wall Street career. The “self-adjusting meter of supply and demand,” wrote the philosopher Ralph Waldo Emerson in 1860, solved for all. “Do not legislate,” he wrote. “Meddle and you snap the sinews.”10

By the time Gould died in 1892, everything had changed. The best-selling book in America after the Bible wasn’t one that celebrated liberty but Progress and Poverty by Henry George. Progress and Poverty ranks among the most influential works in American history. It served as the manifesto of the Progressive movement and was translated into dozens of languages. In muscular prose, George argued the rich received all the benefits of economic expansion while the poor, despite that growth, stayed poor. Unchecked capitalism lifted supremely gifted men like Gould and caused misery, despair, and hardship for everyone else. The market gave rise to “the shocking contrast between monstrous wealth and debasing want.”11 It was the job of government, George wrote, to correct the wrongs.

Gould, as much as anyone, catalyzed the call for change. His first great coup was the capture of the Erie Railroad in 1868. He did it with deception and bribery. A year later, Massachusetts, partly in reaction to Gould, created the Massachusetts Railroad Commission. It was the country’s first regulatory commission. Henry George himself made an example of Gould. Gould was his poster boy for economic inequality. “So boldly, so skillfully, so unscrupulously has he played the great game,” George wrote, “that he is likely to die the richest man in the country, probably the richest man in the world.”12

George didn’t have all the answers, but he was right about one thing: Gould knew how to play the game.
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ONE [image: ] SCHOOL DAYS


In 1853 when Jay Gould was seventeen, he made an announcement to his friend Abel Crosby. “Crosby,” he declared, “I’m going to be rich. I’ve seen enough to realize what can be accomplished by means of riches, and I tell you I’m going to be rich.”1

Young men talk big. But Gould wasn’t one for loose talk. When he said something, he meant it. There was no doubt. He would succeed. Where did he get the confidence? And the impulse?

In a bit of delightful prefiguring, the first Gould in America was named Gold. Major Nathan Gold, a Puritan, came to Connecticut in search of religious freedom and lucre. He found both, practicing his nonconformist belief while striking it rich shipping beaver hides and deerskin back to England. His grandson Abraham served in the Revolutionary War as a lieutenant in George Washington’s Continental Army and died in the Battle of Ridgefield. Abraham’s son, another Abraham, preferred the name Gould to Gold. No one knows why. The Goulds went west to take up dairy farming in New York’s Catskill Mountains, settling in the town of Roxbury. They had ten children. The oldest was Jay Gould’s father, John Burr Gould. Burr was a family name. Aaron Burr, who killed Alexander Hamilton in a duel, was a distant cousin.

John Gould took over the farm from his father. He made cheese to sell in Albany and New York City. A “churn dog,” hitched to a wheel to make butter, pitched in. John married a local woman named Mary More. After having six girls, Mary gave birth to a seventh child on May 27, 1836. The baby was premature. Not wanting to tempt fate, the Goulds waited before giving their small and ailing baby—a son they had longed for—a name. Several agonizing weeks later, they named him Jason. Jason gave way to Jay.

Another child of the backwoods, Andrew Jackson, was president. Ninety percent of the country’s population—a population that doubled every quarter century during this age of staggering growth—lived on farms. Westward migration was in swing. Saltbox houses were replacing log cabins in Ohio and Michigan. Illinois and Missouri were already states. Just weeks before Gould’s birth, Sam Houston’s army captured the prideful Mexican general Santa Anna and won freedom for Texas. The Catskills were hardly the frontier. But the roads were poor and travel was slow. New York City, already the biggest city in the country, was 150 miles away from Roxbury. It took a day to reach it.

The nation’s economy was healthy and its growth the envy of other countries. Trading on the New York Stock Exchange came to fewer than eight thousand shares a day, but volume grew every year and flag bearers stood atop hills, manning a semaphore line that sent price quotes from Manhattan to Boston. While most Americans were farmers, the biggest businesses in the country were banks. Railroads, the industry that would eventually consume Gould as well as dominate trading on the exchange, were just getting started. There was no income tax and, for the last time, the government was free of debt.

On a January morning when Jay was four, the girls were in school when their teacher dismissed them early. Mary was sick and wanted to see her children. Jay went with the girls to Mary’s room. He pulled himself up on her bed, bracing his feet on the frame, and kissed her lips. They were cold. Mary Gould was dead at age thirty-five, a victim of typhoid fever. At the funeral, Jay held sister Anna’s hand as the family buried Mary in the snowy ground of the Roxbury Baptist Church. Gould later said the only thing he remembered about his mother were her cold lips.

Mary was survived by her family and a legacy in the form of a magnificent garden. When she wasn’t cooking meals, milking cows, or making clothes, she tended to a fine collection of roses and hyacinths. As they bloomed anew each spring, they served as a beautiful reminder of the mother Gould barely knew. Mary was said to have a head for money along with an even temper. Gould inherited those traits. A more tangible link could be drawn to the flowers. After Gould made it big, he bought a country estate that came with the largest glass-enclosed conservatory in the country. He filled it with roses and hyacinths.

Family tragedy didn’t end there. John Gould, now fifty-one, immediately remarried. The new wife died less than a year later. Understandably anxious about raising the family on his own, he married a third time. The woman died within two years. Jay’s sister Nancy, age eleven, also fell ill and died. That made four deaths in four years. The Goulds seemed cursed. John Gould took to drink. The family cringed at a church picnic when he toppled over drunk.

John Gould could be cruel. Jay was once sent home from school for misbehaving. John locked him in the cellar. The girls returned from class and asked Jay’s whereabouts. John, who might have been drunk, said he didn’t know. Only later did he remember Jay was in the cellar. The girls hurried to liberate their brother. They found him in tears.

Jay had an impish streak, but not at the expense of his studies. He worked on math problems as long as it took to get an answer. He read whatever he could get his hands on. When John needed him for chores, Jay was often nowhere to be found. He was off hiding somewhere with his books. Jay left home when he was thirteen, explaining that the local school was too easy. He later said that his father, who had given up on his dream of Jay taking over the farm, didn’t care and told him, “I was not worth much at home and I might go ahead.”2

Gould was short—almost elfin—and frail. But when he wrestled with friends, he surprised them with his determination. One friend was John Burroughs, who grew up to become a famous nature writer. “He was very plucky and hard to beat,” Burroughs wrote. “He was made of steel and rubber.”3 Gould was bright, articulate, and thoughtful. His most remarkable quality was precocity. To pay tuition and board at his new school, Hobart Academy, he taught himself basic accounting and kept the books for a blacksmith. A year after leaving for Hobart, his old school in Roxbury hired a new teacher. Jay heard good things about the teacher and, perhaps feeling homesick, came home. In an assignment for the new instructor, Jay wrote an essay that detractors later mocked for its irony, but was more noteworthy for its deft use of language. He called it “Honesty Is the Best Policy.” Gould warned readers that “we should not acquaint ourselves too much with the world” and observed that “conscience is not the voice of thunder, but a voice gentle and impressive.”4

Two years later, Gould was rising at three to study by firelight. His area of interest was surveying. He hated the drudgery of farming and believed surveying was his way out. He got on with a draftsman who planned to make and sell a map of Ulster County, one of the counties in the Catskills. The draftsman told Jay not to worry about food and shelter because his credit was good. He assured that farmers along the way would provide for him; he would pay them later. On Jay’s third day on the road, he was turned down everywhere he went. The draftsman had exhausted his credit. Jay was hungry, miles from home and alone. He walked into the woods, sat by a tree, and fell into sobs. “It seemed to me as though the world had come to an end,” he said later.5

The tears restored him. He approached another farmer and asked what he could do to earn a night’s stay. The farmer offered him 50 cents to use his surveying tools to make a noon mark, a simple sundial that indicated midday. With that, Jay was in business. Sustaining himself with noon marks, he traipsed the roads of Ulster County, surveyed the whole thing, and sold the maps himself. He earned a few hundred dollars. “That was the first money I made in business,” he said.6

He agreed to map other counties and soon had a modest but thriving business. He gathered surveys from correspondents in three states, drew up maps, made copies, and sold them to farmers, road contractors, and schools. “Look at Gould,” marveled the father of one of his friends. “Isn’t he a driver.”7

Gould’s shortcoming was an inability to slow down. While other farm children mended fences and threshed hay, Gould filled his teenage years with deadlines, sales calls, and personnel decisions. Consumed by work, he ate poorly and slept little. His friends were hardly astonished when, during the summer of 1854, he collapsed into bed with chills and stomach pains.

The doctor diagnosed typhoid fever. After the fever passed, Gould rushed back to work. Like an injured ballplayer who returns too soon, he fell ill with a bowel infection. He took morphine to numb the pain. His sisters feared for his life. “You know this disease terminates one way or the other, soon,” wrote his sister Polly to their sister Sarah.8 He couldn’t keep down food and lost weight. When he recovered, he attended Sarah’s wedding looking like death.

The doctor told him to lay off work. He tried but couldn’t stop thinking about his neglected projects. Polly complained that relaxing “seemed to make him even worse.”9 After spending months in bed, he grew impossibly restless. Winter was approaching and frost already covered the mountains. He dragged himself up on a horse and rode off on one of his map ventures. He was on the road only a few days when pneumonia struck. He recovered, but, at the about the same time, his sister Polly took ill and died of tuberculosis.

Her death was a wake-up call. He resolved to stay at home until he was back at full strength. Not that he was idle. He took the time to finish another piece of work. At the behest of a local agricultural organization, he wrote a history of his home county of Delaware. He sent it to a printer shop in Philadelphia that picked that time to burn down. From his notes, Gould rewrote the 426 pages. “As you know,” he said to a friend, “I’m not in the habit of backing out of what I undertake, and I shall write night and day until it is completed.”10 Years later, in an otherwise scathing profile of Gould, The New York Times grudgingly conceded that his opus, History of Delaware County and Border Wars of New York, was “admirable,” and not just because it was written by an eighteen-year-old.

About this time, Gould hopped on the Hudson River Railway for a visit to Manhattan. He was heading to the Crystal Palace in Bryant Park for the Exhibition of Industry. He had work to do. His grandfather had invented a rat trap and asked Jay to display the device at the show and sell the license. President Franklin Pierce opened the event. Walt Whitman supplied a poem. Elisha Otis debuted his new elevator. The crowd gasped when Otis boarded his contraption and ordered the cables slashed in confidence that his new safety brake would stop his fall. Jay sold the rat trap and earned a few dollars but not before an encounter with a pickpocket who stole the trap. Jay grabbed the thief by the leg and held on until the police came. The New York Herald devoted half a column to “the plucky visitor’s” apprehension of the thief.11

Gould toyed with the idea of college and took prep courses in Albany. He visited Rutgers, Yale, Harvard, and Brown. After seeing the students darting to class and the professors sauntering the commons in their gowns, he concluded college was an expensive indulgence. Why bother with college when he could teach himself from books?

Back home, Gould joined a reading circle that explored spirituality. Gould wasn’t religious but he searched for answers after the loss of his sister Polly. Contemplation of the afterlife served to drive him harder. “As regards the future world, except what the Bible reveals, I am unable to fathom its mysteries,” he wrote to a friend, “but, as to the present, I am determined to use all my best energies to accomplish this life’s highest possibilities.”12

There is another story from Gould’s youth worth noting. During his long convalescence from the bowel infection, Gould worked in a store owned by the most successful merchant in town, Edward Burhans. Gould took a liking to Burhans’s daughter Maria. One day, a farmer walked into the store and told Gould he wanted to talk to Burhans about some land he had to sell. Gould knew the property and a good idea of its worth. He offered to buy the parcel on the spot and closed the deal before Burhans had a chance. Gould flipped it for a $5,000 profit, an amount equal to about $100,000 in current dollars. Burhans was enraged. He fired Gould and made sure Maria had nothing more to do with him. When it came to love or money, Gould chose money.






TWO [image: ] THE SEDUCTION OF ZADOCK PRATT


On a rainy spring morning in 1856, the famous gentleman rose early and rode an hour through the mountains, tied up his horse, and walked into the Roxbury Hotel. An onlooker recalled his appearance. The visitor was an “old, gray haired man—tall, erect, booted and spurred.”1 He announced himself as Colonel Zadock Pratt. He had a question. Where could he find Jay Gould?

Pratt didn’t need to introduce himself. Everyone knew Zadock Pratt. Merchant’s Magazine, the Fortune magazine of the day, once compiled some biographical sketches to inspire the young. It included chapters on Henry Clay, John Quincy Adams, and Washington Irving. More ink was spilled for Zadock Pratt. Pratt was an inspiration. Born in 1790, Pratt began his career traveling town to town as a saddle maker. Then he ran a country store, worked fourteen-hour days, and saved money by sleeping under the counter at night. He had his first big commercial success selling oars to the military in the War of 1812. Looking for a bigger opportunity after the war, he was riding through the countryside when he happened upon a site along the Schoharie River, not far from Roxbury. He instantly recognized it as a perfect location for a tannery. From the moment he signed the deed, his fortune was secure.

Leather was big business. The country needed shoes, boots, machine belts, leather breeches, and, as Pratt well knew, saddles. Tanners made the leather by soaking cowhides in the tannic acid found in tree bark. No tree produced more tannin than hemlock. No place in America had more hemlock than the Catskills. Tanneries were popping up all over the mountains. It was a dirty business. The stench of hides filled the air. Rotting remains fouled the rivers. The tanners themselves were rough, drinking men despised by the locals, and notorious for leaving behind shantytowns, unpaid bills, and acres of decaying logs and tree stumps.

Pratt vowed to do it better. Promising to “live with the local people and not on them,” he said he would build a sustainable community and stay after the hemlock was gone.2 Upon finding his site, it took him less than three months to build the biggest tannery in the country. Pratt was soon buying hides from as far away as Buenos Aires and turning them into high-quality leather that he mostly shipped to New York City. Pratt ate meals with his men. To minimize employee turnover, he encouraged them to bring their families upstate. Instead of letting the felled trees go to waste, he cut it into lumber. He built schools, houses, and churches. He removed tree stumps to ready the land for planting. Other Catskills communities were unorganized collections of farms united only by a church, a store, and places like the Roxbury Hotel. Pratt’s community, which he dubbed Prattsville, was a fully formed, economically diverse city with a neatly arranged center of shops and homes. New Yorkers called it “the gem of the Catskills.”

If Pratt had a business card, it might have said something like “data scientist.” He doubled his leather output by experimenting with different boiling times, tannin concentrations, and hide size while recording every data point in a book. He vertically integrated with an in-house blacksmith and used his own men to fell trees instead of the usual contract laborers. Other tanners guarded their secrets. Pratt, eager to advance best practices, published his.

Pratt was drawn to politics. He ran for Congress as a Democrat in 1836 and won by an impressive three thousand votes. During his two terms, he never missed a day on the House floor. His bills cut postage rates, advanced the transcontinental railroad, and created the federal Bureau of Statistics. He commissioned the Washington Monument.

Pratt was eccentric. On the Fourth of July, he’d put on a fur coat and drive a sleigh through town. He liked playing soldier. With real gunpowder, he reenacted famous battles. More than once, he blew up a barn and reimbursed the owners. A phrenologist, a practitioner of the quackery then in vogue, examined Pratt’s skull in 1848. The phrenologist pronounced the skull’s occupant “peculiar, isolated and detached from the species.”3

Pratt’s life was marked by sadness. His son George was the youngest person ever elected to the state legislature. An army colonel, he was shot dead in the Second Battle of Bull Run. Pratt buried four wives—one more than John Gould. His fifth wife was a young writer with Leather and Shoe Reporter. He was seventy-nine and she was twenty. She survived him.

Pratt had a weakness: pride. Calling his little tanning community Prattsville was defensible. There were plenty of villages named after their founders. Nor was it unusual when he started a bank and called it Prattsville National. It got strange with the banknotes. Banks issued their own notes in those days, backed by their own credit. They adorned the notes with images of milk maids, schooners, and beehives. For his bank, Pratt used a portrait of a middle-aged gentleman with a calm gaze, a firm jaw, a chinstrap beard, and a bow tie. There was a good reason for that, he’d say. Who wouldn’t accept a banknote graced with an image of Zadock Pratt?

His portrait shows him with three medals around his neck. He commissioned a stone cutter to sculpt his likeness on the rocks overlooking Prattsville. Pratt Rocks stand to this day as a Catskills Mount Rushmore. He commissioned another reporter from Leather and Shoe to ghostwrite his autobiography. In it we learn that Pratt was the best marksman, the fastest runner, and the strongest horseman around. We discover that lesser men have neither the skill nor stomach for big business, thus it was Pratt’s obligation, like it was for “the founders of the House of Medici,” to assume the burden himself.4

Some years before Pratt rode into Roxbury, Gould, then sixteen, had tried to sell Pratt a map. Pratt didn’t need a map. But he liked Gould’s spirit and promised to keep him in mind. Gould made sure of it by sending him letters and telling him about his maps and other projects. Then came the rainy morning when Pratt went looking for Gould.

Gould rushed to the hotel. Pratt asked Gould to survey his farm. By now Gould was sick of surveying. He instead told Pratt about an idea he had. Gould’s brother-in-law operated a tannery in Pennsylvania and knew about a hemlock forest near the Lehigh River. It was the ideal spot for a tannery. Not only was it on a river but a crew was building a train line nearby to haul coal. Once the railroad opened, New York would only be a day away from the hemlocks. Gould wanted to build a tannery there and asked Pratt to back him.

Pratt had retired from tanning. After clearing all the hemlocks within ten miles of Prattsville, he had switched to farming. He was now grazing cattle. Gould’s idea struck him as fishy. Although he had once owned a Pennsylvania tannery, he had never heard of the El Dorado Gould described. Pratt wanted to see it. Gould promised to take him but first he had to find it himself.

Gould grabbed his compass and surveying tools, and rode over the mountains through wild country. Bears and wolves roamed the hills. Mountain lions screamed for their mates. Gould saw plenty of oak and pine in eastern Pennsylvania but little hemlock. He eventually came to what seemed like a promising area not far from Wilkes-Barre. He looked up a mountainside. There they were, hemlocks as far as the eye could see. They stretched across the mountain and down into the valley. They bounded over streams and rocks. There was enough hemlock to keep a tanner busy for years. He returned with Pratt. They rode together, the slight young man with no money and a tall, rich, sixty-five-year-old with money to burn. Pratt saw the hemlocks. He and Gould became partners.

Just like that, Gould was an industrialist. After choosing a spot by the river, he hired a crew, picked up an axe, and joined the men to fell trees. Vats for boiling tanning solution arrived along with the two-handled knives for shaving bark. Gould and his men built a dormitory in two days, then a tannery. They dubbed their little encampment Gouldsboro. Gould wrote to Pratt about the dedication ceremony sounding like a kid sending his parents a note from camp. “I have moved into a new boarding house,” he wrote. “It is small but commodious affair.” He slipped in some flattery. “Three hearty cheers were then proposed for Hon. Zadock Pratt,” he wrote. “A more hearty response I am certain this valley has never before witnessed.”5

A happy pattern developed between Pratt and his acolyte. Pratt offered an idea. Gould praised its brilliance. Pratt sent a check. Gould acted on the idea. Pratt suggested building a church and a school for workers and their families. Gould replied, “Pride in community will encourage and inspire our men.”6 Pratt suggested maintaining detailed records. Gould replied: “The most successful men are invariably the most careful about small things.”7 Pratt told Gould where to buy cowhides. Gould replied: “I am under many obligations for your good advice.” Pratt offered an idea for shipping tanned hides to New York. Gould replied: “I am much obliged.”8

If Pratt noticed insincerity, he never said so. Gould showed no concern about crossing the line. If anything, he became more of a sycophant. When Pratt told Gould about his idea for an autobiography, Gould recommended that the introduction declare Pratt a model for mankind. Wrote Gould, “Col. Pratt has arisen by his own untiring industry from comparative obscurity to become the most eminent and most useful man in the world.”9 Pratt loved it. And the more flattery Gould delivered, the more money flowed from Prattsville. By and by, Pratt sank $120,000 into the tanning venture. For his part, Gould contributed no cash, only labor.

One day a wagon rolled up to the tannery carrying a large crate. Inside the crate was a metal contraption with a wheel on the side. Gould and his colleagues unloaded the thing and gave it a look. It was a steam engine. Pratt had read in Leather and Shoe about a new way to make tanning fluid. The key ingredient was hemlock bark ground into small pieces for boiling in water. The article advocated a steam engine for grinding the bark instead of a water wheel. The benefit was year-round production. Whether or not the river was frozen, it could keep on grinding. And it was powered not by expensive kerosene but by setting fire to the boiled tree bark after it dried. It sounded good on paper.

After some fiddling, Gould’s men attached the engine to the grinding mill, fed the fuel bin with bark, and started it up. The bark didn’t catch fire so much as it smoldered. They let the bark dry some more and tried again. This time the engine wouldn’t turn over. The engine was junk. Gould sent it back. While waiting for a new one, he learned that the manufacturer had gone out of business. He’d have to find another one.

One of Gould’s remarkable characteristics was an ability to project good cheer in dark hours. But he was in a hurry because every lost day was another day without a profit. He let his frustration slip in a letter to Pratt. “I am inclined to think that my original suggestion—building a water-wheel as a backup to the more modern plan—may have saved us time, expense and frustration.”10

Gould made up for lost time by driving himself and his men harder. Once the new engine arrived, he worked nonstop. The tannery was soon up to capacity and shipping as much leather each month as Pratt had shipped from Prattsville. For Gould, it had been a year of furious effort punctuated by maddening delays. As the cash rolled in, he had reason to cheer. He had a half interest in a profitable tanning operation supplied with enough hemlock to last for years. He was twenty-two years old. He could see the day when he would be rich just like he had predicted.

Still, he felt unsatisfied. He had not forgotten the mansions and carriages he had seen in Manhattan during his rat-trap adventure. He wasn’t sure what the people along Fifth Avenue did to afford such luxuries. But he knew it wasn’t tanning cowhides. The letters from Pratt suggested another way, that the real money in leather came from doing what Gould himself had done years back when he flipped the farmer’s land in Roxbury. The secret was to buy low and sell high. He had noticed that leather prices were as mercurial as land prices, and that powerful and sometimes hidden forces drove prices. Leather production wasn’t itself a bad business: he could work his tail off, expand the factory, hire more workers, and tan twice as many hides as Pratt ever did. But it occurred to Gould he could make even more money by understanding the forces that moved prices and then trading on that knowledge. Gould had taught himself bookkeeping. He had taught himself surveying. He had taught himself about Shakespeare, Milton, and Pope. Now he would teach himself everything about how leather was bought and sold. “I want to gain a grasp of the bartering,” he wrote to a friend.11



THERE USED TO be a wet patch of land covered with cattails and sawgrass on Manhattan’s East Side, a few blocks north of Wall Street, where tanners made leather from hemlocks that grew on the island. The area reeked of putrefying cowhides. Locals called it the Swamp. Production could only last as long as Manhattan had hemlocks. After the trees were gone, the tanners moved to places like Prattsville and the wetlands were filled in to expand the city’s boundaries. Production had fled the city, but trading stayed in the Swamp. Tanners shipped their hides to New York for sale and the Swamp thrived as a marketplace.

Pratt’s son George, the one who later died at Bull Run, worked for his father as a leather broker in the Swamp before the war. He made a living buying and selling Gould’s hides. Gould occasionally tagged along with George. The visits confirmed something he suspected. Not only could he make money buying low and selling high. He could also make money as a broker, buying and selling for someone else. The best part was he didn’t have to put up his own money. He could pocket handsome commissions as a go-between. Gould pummeled George with questions. “I’m not sure Mr. Pratt enjoys my shadow,” Gould wrote.12

Back at the tannery, Gould’s mind returned to the Swamp. What a place, he thought. No crews to supervise, no steaming vats of boiling hides, no broken steam engines, no odor so vile that it made the eyes water. The Swamp was moneymaking distilled to its essence. The tannery made things. The activity was physical. In the Swamp, the value came not from making things but by making decisions. Brains and information won the day. Gould decided New York, not the backwoods, was the place for him. “I’ve come to realize,” he wrote to his father, “that it is the merchants who command the true power. The brokers take what seems the smallest share but is in fact the largest. Theirs is nearly pure profit made on the backs of the shippers and the tanners, never their hands dirtied.”13

The more Gould visited New York, the more opportunities he saw. He learned something else, too. He discovered that others would pay more for his leather than George Pratt did. Risking a confrontation with Zadock, Gould took his hides to George’s competitors. He didn’t care about the consequences. By this time, he had gotten all he needed from the Pratts. It was time to make a break.



IN SEPTEMBER 1857, a large bank in Ohio collapsed amid allegations of fraud. Its depositors and investors lost everything. Panic engulfed Wall Street as investors worried their own bank would be next. European investors pulled out of the American market. Jacob Little, a fabulously wealthy trader and a board member of the New York Stock Exchange, went under and would die penniless a few years later. Half of the Street’s brokers went bankrupt in the ensuing recession.

Leather prices sank along with everything else, and Gould’s tannery went from making money to burning cash. Gould couldn’t pay the workers. Pratt proposed buying him out for $10,000. The figure was laughable. Pratt and Gould each owned 50 percent of the stock. Pratt had invested $120,000 in cash and Gould had put up his labor. Gould’s half wasn’t worth $120,000 anymore, not with leather prices in the tank. But it wasn’t worth $10,000 either. People still wore shoes. When the economy recovered, leather prices would recover. Gould told Pratt to stuff it. He’d take $60,000 for his stake but not a penny less.

Pratt turned Gould’s logic back on him. If Gould really thought a half share was worth $60,000, Pratt should be willing to sell his own half share to Gould for that amount. Otherwise, his original offer to buy out Gould for $10,000 was the best he could do. Confident that Gould could not conjure the money, Pratt gave him ten days to decide.

With the deadline approaching, Gould rushed to the Swamp and met with the biggest leather broker in town. Charles Leupp had been trading leather for forty years. He lived in a Madison Avenue mansion where he hosted writers and artists including the beloved Hudson River School landscape painter Jasper Cropsey. Gould said if Leupp gave him $60,000 to buy out Pratt, he’d give him two thirds of the business. Gould didn’t like watering down his ownership, but his back was to the wall.

Leupp thought for a minute. Gould was young but he was producing a lot of leather. Leupp himself had bought some of it and knew the quality was good. Besides, if Pratt was interested in the tannery, it had to be worth something. They came to terms and shook hands. Gould took Leupp’s money and paid Pratt.

A few years earlier, Gould had known nothing about tanning, manufacturing, and trading hides. Zadock Pratt, on the other hand, was a seasoned veteran. He was one of the richest men in New York. It was Pratt’s face that adorned banknotes, not Jay Gould’s. But Pratt’s pockets, not Jay Gould’s, were the ones picked that day. Pratt had invested $120,000 of cash in the tannery. Gould had invested nothing but his labor. When the market recovered, Gould, not Pratt, stood to clean up.






THREE[image: ] TANNERS WAR


When Charles Leupp signed the agreement with Gould in January 1859, he was fifty-two years old and losing his mind. Gould’s new partner saw elephants in the living room and bats on his shoulder. He thought detectives hid in his rafters. He demanded someone check his pulse every ten minutes to prove he still lived.

Leupp’s mental state may explain why he did the deal. How else to account for it? Leupp had no business owning a tannery. He was a trader, not a manufacturer. The manufacturers counted on him to look out for them. If word got around that he was making leather himself, other tanners would regard him as a competitor and take their business elsewhere. He’d be finished. In his reduced, delusional condition, he gambled that he could keep the deal secret and have it both ways. To cover his tracks, he instructed Gould to leave his name off the documents. Gould filed papers with the state listing himself as sole proprietor. Leupp’s name was nowhere to be found.

Leupp came home one afternoon and had dinner with his daughters and one of her friends. As they sat at the kitchen table, Leupp seemed confused, looking at the others with a blank stare. He left the table, paced the floor, and darted back and forth between different rooms. A friend who thought Leupp had been acting erratically that day came over to check on him. He remembered his friend storming into the kitchen looking “wild-eyed.” Leupp kissed his daughter with unusual fervor and fled the kitchen through a back door. As the others tried to make sense of it, they heard a gunshot. They ran to Leupp’s dressing room to find blood gushing from his chest. “The community was shocked yesterday morning by the intelligence that Mr. Chas M. Leupp, a leading leather merchant in the Swamp, had committed self-destruction,” wrote the Herald. In describing his suicide, it recounted how Leupp grabbed his double-barreled revolver, opened his vest, placed the gun muzzle to his chest and “blew his heart to atoms.”1

Leupp’s heart atomization led to another ownership shuffle for Gould’s tannery. The heirs wanted out. So did Leupp’s partner, David Lee. Gould scraped together funds and proposed buying their interest for the same $60,000 Leupp had paid Gould. In March 1860, Lee invited Gould to New York to finalize the deal. When Gould arrived in the Swamp, Lee’s assistant told him Lee was out but would be back the next day. When Lee failed to show up, Gould became suspicious. He asked around and discovered Lee was on his way to Gouldsboro. Lee didn’t want to sell his stake after all. He had only said that to buy time. He was going to Pennsylvania to seize the tannery by force.

Gould went to his lawyer. The lawyer told him something useful. Even though Lee and the estate owned more stock in the tannery than Gould, Gould could throw Lee off the property for trespassing. That’s because, thanks to Leupp’s attempt to hide his ownership, Gould was registered as the sole proprietor. When Gould got to Gouldsboro, he found Lee and a goon squad of about forty-five men—men Lee paid with whiskey—inside the tannery, daring Gould to fight.

Gould was more a diplomat than a soldier. In hopes of a negotiated peace, he slowly approached the tannery, unarmed and alone. Lee’s men poured out of the building. They surrounded Gould and threatened to kill him if he didn’t leave Gouldsboro. Gould backed off. Back in town, he gathered the community to muster an attack force. Lee had fifty men. That left another 250 men available to fight. Gould easily found recruits. The people of Gouldsboro knew their boss as someone who had worked alongside them and paid them without interruption. Lee was a stranger. Gould was delighted by the show of support. “I was surprised to see so large a body of volunteers collected,” Gould later told the Wilkes-Barre Union.

Gould had never before fired nor loaded a gun. His only experience as a fighter was his grade school wrestling matches. But the prospect of economic annihilation was motivating. It overwhelmed his fear of death. “I quietly selected fifty men,” he said, “commanding the reserve to keep aloof.”2 He and his force marched to the tannery, surrounded the building, and demanded Lee’s surrender.

Gould showed flair as a military commander. Because he had built the tannery himself, he knew the layout and its vulnerabilities. He sent half his team to the far end of the building where they could tear down a flimsy side wall. While they were doing that, he and the others would create a diversion in front. They’d ram through the front door and, with the power of superior numbers, root out the enemy.

Gould gave the order. The battle was under way. He and his fighters burst in. As Gould later recalled, he was “immediately showered by a salute of balls.” After a brief retreat, Gould mounted a second charge. Shots rang. The smell of sulfur filled the air. The wall on the far side crashed to the ground and the full force of Gould’s army raced into the building. Lee was outnumbered. Some of his men fled by jumping from second floor windows. Others scurried out the back of the building. Lee suffered a buckshot wound to his hand. Abandoned by his troops, he surrendered.

The battle of Gouldsboro made good copy. “Quite an excitement pervaded our community last week,” wrote the Wilkes-Barre Union. It described how a “fierce riot was raging in the village.” Lee said Gould’s men had “rushed through the building yelling like wild Indians.”3 He insisted that if his mercenaries had stayed with him, he would have throttled Gould.

Gould relished his victory. Asked how he overcame the enemy, he credited superior force. But that wasn’t the whole story. There was something else at work, he said, something that made a difference in all aspects of life, not just in armed conflicts. It was temperance. While Lee promoted drunkenness by paying his men with whiskey, Gould insisted on sobriety for his own. Lee’s men were drunk. Gould’s were not. That tipped the balance. “I used the most vigilant care to prevent the use of a single drop of liquor,” Gould said, “for it is a well-known fact that I neither use it myself or countenance its use in others.”4 The temperance movement was gaining steam. Gould, the son of an alcoholic, was an advocate. This wouldn’t be the last time he preached sobriety.

The experience soured Gould on tanning. He turned the operations over to others, earning little on the sale, and, in a momentous step, embarked on a new chapter in his life that had nothing to do with tree bark and cowhides. A man could make a good living in leather. Leather wasn’t going away. But Gould was convinced the big money wasn’t in the wilds of Pennsylvania. It was on a narrow street in New York wedged between Broadway and the East River, a place where men went to work in woolen suits, not leather breeches. “I am trying to start myself in the smoky world of stocks and bonds,” he wrote to a friend in November 1860. “There are magicians’ skills to be learned on Wall Street, and I mean to learn them.”5
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